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Introduction


On a bitterly cold Christmas Eve in 1940 Hugh Dalton, Britain’s Minister for Economic Warfare arrived in Perth, Scotland to address Polish troops. Flanked by the exiled Polish Commander-in-Chief, General Sikorski and the Polish President, Władysław Raczkiewicz, Dalton gave his audience a rousing oration: ‘On the day of victory, Poland, as the first nation to stand up to Hitler, should ride in the van of the victory march’.1 The 200 Polish soldiers greeted the speech with great enthusiasm. They were, after all, in a friendly host country – with an ally who had gone to war over their plight; they, the Poles would fight on behalf of Britain and in return they would receive Britain’s support to free their land from both German and Soviet occupation.2 It was a simple and trusting belief, but one that ignored the brutal maxims of international power, as well as simple logistics. The Poles made huge sacrifices on behalf of the Allies but never received their freedom with Allied help, let alone a place in the victory march in 1945. British attempts to help the Poles in their crisis period of 1944 were, at best, limited, but how much more could they have done?


In reality, Britain had very few strategic interests in Poland. When Hitler invaded Poland in September 1939, Britain declared war on Germany. She did so because of Prime Minister Chamberlain’s guarantee of support to Poland, given six months before. Perhaps it was no more than a gesture against aggression in Europe as a whole, but the fact that Britain was in no shape to fulfil that guarantee and her failure to materially help Poland, weighed heavily on ministerial hearts during the war years.3


Poland was subsequently carved up between Germany and the Soviet Union, and Hitler singled Poland out for special treatment, murdering over five million of her citizens. British voices declared their determination to see, one day, a strong and independent Poland, but this took no account of the predator on her eastern border. The Poles were understandably hostile to Soviet intentions. The Soviet Union had, after all, effectively been an ally of Germany for nearly two years, before she was invaded in June 1941, and only then embarked on her huge sacrifices in the ‘Great Patriotic War’. It was left to Poland’s underground press, rather than Britain’s largely pro-Soviet newspapers, to declare the true nature of Stalin’s rule.


Polish military spirit was kept alive in the form of the Polish Home Army (Armia Krajowa, or AK), an organisation with strong connections to the Britain’s Special Operations Executive (SOE). Its intelligence services, who wisely insisted on keeping their own secret cypher codes, nevertheless made a huge contribution to Allied intelligence. In return, Poland only ever received a paltry 600 tons of supplies via SOE. This compared to 5,796 tons for Greece and 10,000 tons for both France and Yugoslavia.4 Even this limited support was hampered during 1944 by the periodic banning of flights to Poland. This was largely to prevent high casualties among the highly trained Polish Special Duties crews. Yet senior Polish Air Staff had to remind the British Air Ministry that over 2,000 Polish airmen had already been lost while fighting for Britain under RAF Command.5


In terms of sheer loss of human life on Polish soil, the events at Auschwitz and other Nazi concentration camps in German-occupied Poland dwarf all other events. We now know the huge scale of the Holocaust and modern scholars have the benefit of a large number of archives and oral testimonies, even including statements from those who perpetrated the crimes. Given this knowledge, the feeble British and American response to contemporary reports of the slaughter seems inexcusable. Furthermore, the Holocaust in Poland did not see the sudden eruptions of barbarity typical of other genocides. It was planned and methodically executed over a very long period, with its own warped, but entrenched economic thoroughness.6 With such a long build-up – from the pre-war concentration camps (seen by many as just severe penal institutions) to the full-blown extermination camps of the war years – western officials should have had all the more time to detect it. Yet such a long period may have merely served to blunt the impact of the atrocities. Were the Nazi smokescreens convenient to those in the west who read the reports but closed their minds to the unthinkable? All Britain’s national resources were diverted to the sole aim of winning the conflict and other humanitarian issues had to wait. Without the achievement of the former, could the latter ever be resolved?


Poland in 1944 was also the scene of important trials for the V-2 rocket. The story of the German development of flying bombs and rockets has received much attention in recent years. Emphasis has been placed on the role of certain personalities involved in their development, such as Wernher von Braun and Walter Dornberger, or those involved with their discovery, such as Constance Babington-Smith of the RAF Photographic Analysis unit. The considerable Polish role is usually minimised, yet it is doubtful whether Britain’s Joint Intelligence Committee could have made such progress in analysing the threat, without Polish reports on the secret weapons.7


It is ironic that Britain went to war for Poland and yet the main victim after the Allied victory was Poland. Was the only choice facing Churchill and his government the simple one of accepting Soviet domination of Poland and Eastern Europe as the bill for defeating Hitler? Or could Britain and its instrument of irregular warfare, SOE, have done more to save the Polish people in their crisis year of 1944?


NOTES


1   Ben Pimlott, (Ed.), The Second World War Diary of Hugh Dalton 1940–45 (Jonathan Cape, London 1986), pp. 132–3.


2   Notable contributions were made by Polish airmen in the Battle of Britain; the Polish Navy; General Maczek’s 1st Armoured Division; General Kopanski’s Carpathian Brigade; General Ander’s II Corps; General Sosabowski’s Parachute Brigade at Arnhem.


3   On 24 May 1944 Major Vyvyan Adams MP, entreated the House of Commons not to be consumed with issues of Poland’s borders, claiming Britain went to war for altogether wider concerns. See ‘Discussions in Parliament’ in Polish Fortnightly Review, No. 93, 1 June 1944, PRM.132a, Polish Institute and Sikorski Museum, London (hereafter PISM).


4   Józef Garlinaanski, Poland, SOE and the Allies (George Allen and Unwin, London 1969), p. 147.


5   Minutes of Meeting at Air Ministry, 31 August 1944, HS4/156, NA. This figure quoted at the meeting referred to the position in late 1944 and included 287 airmen lost as Prisoners of War. Total losses of Polish airmen during the war, while under RAF Command amounted to 2,258. This includes training and operational losses. See Jerzy B Cynk, The Polish Air Force at War: The Official History, Vol. 2, 1943–1945 (Schiffer Military History, Atglen, US 1998), p. 654.


6   Richard Overy, The Daily Telegraph, 15 September 2007.


7   Professor Jan Ciechanowski has attributed this lack of Polish recognition regarding the ‘V Weapons’, to Western European researchers not pursuing Polish language sources; see Tessa Stirling, Daria Nałęcz and Tadeusz Dubicki (Eds.), Intelligence Co-operation between Poland and Great Britain During World War II, Volume 1: The Report of the Anglo-Polish Historical Committee (Valentine Mitchell, London 2005), pp. 34–5; see also ‘Operation Underwriter’, 18 July 1944, HS 4/180, National Archives, Kew, London (hereafter NA).




Chapter One


The Rape of Poland


It was a bizarre plan, even by the standards of Reinhardt Heydrich, head of the SS Security Service (SD). As a pretext for Germany’s invasion of Poland in September 1939, some twenty bogus border incursions by Polish troops were arranged. Under the hardly discreet codename ‘Operation Himmler’, a number of condemned criminals were to be dressed in Polish Army uniforms, killed by lethal injection and their bodies shot and arranged as if they had fallen in attacks on German territory. In one particular action, Heydrich employed Alfred Naujocks, an SD henchman with some experience in ‘incident creation’ to organise a feigned assault on the Gleiwitz radio station, just inside the German border. Naujocks was in position at the station before dawn on 1 September 1939 and duly received his consignment – a half-dead Polish Silesian, Franciszek Honiok. An impervious Naujocks later testified:




I received this man and had him laid down at the entrance to the station. He was alive, but he was completely unconscious. I tried to open his eyes. I could not recognize by his eyes that he was alive, only by his breathing. I did not see the shot wounds, but a lot of blood was smeared across his face. He was in civilian clothes. We seized the radio station as ordered, broadcast a speech of 3 to 4 minutes over an emergency transmitter, fired some pistol shots, and left.1





As German radio bellowed out accusations of ‘outrageous’ Polish incursions, the unfortunate Honiok was finished off and left as ‘evidence’ of a Polish assault – probably the first casualty of the Second World War. Blitzkrieg was swiftly unleashed against Poland. Nearly 1,600 first-line aircraft attacked bridges, installations and airfields in support of German armoured units. Air supremacy was achieved within twenty-four hours. Despite the courage of the Polish pilots, their outdated fighters were no match for the cannons of the Messerschmitt 109E, while the JU87 Stuka was used to terrifying effect. With its ability to dive at an angle between 65° and 90°, delivering one 500lb and four 100lb bombs within a 50-yard radius, it was a fearsome machine. Its screaming ‘Jericho’ sirens on its undercarriage legs further demoralised victims.


On the first morning of Hitler’s invasion plan, Fall Weiss (Case White) the speed of the advance was extraordinary and even Warsaw was bombed. Unlike defences in Western Europe, Poland had a porous border with Germany and was bereft of integrated fortifications, allowing swift access for panzer units across level terrain. Under the control of Army Group North, General von Kluge’s Fourth Army swept across the Polish Pomeranian corridor at the same time as General von Kückler’s Third Army burst out of East Prussia, drove south and blocked off Warsaw from the east. Polish resistance was fierce but hopelessly out-manoeuvred. There were many stories of great bravery on the part of the Poles with units such as the Pomeranian Cavalry Brigade charging German infantry with sabres drawn. However, while German commanders conceded that the Polish Cavalry were ‘superb’, the appearance of German armoured cars caused devastating casualties amongst the Polish Lancer squadrons.2


An American documentary film-maker was caught up in the rush to escape the German attack:




The Nazi planes covered the entire interior network of the Polish railways, completely destroyed train after train, killing and wounding 50 of 300 people on our train alone, including our engineer. As soon as the Nazis found there was no anti-aircraft protection on our train they gave up bombing, power-dived sometimes within 20 feet of the top of our train; what luck we had, jumping out of the windows, reaching the woods before they reached our car: for others were caught, and we filmed them between attacks, wounded, bleeding, dying or dead in their seats. The planes followed the survivors, strafing their hiding places in the woods, killing them in the open fields nearby. In one station, a crazy woman standing calm in her straitjacket seemed the only intelligent human being in a flock of frantic, frightened human sheep.3





Meanwhile, Colonel-General von Rundstedt’s Army Group South made similar rapid progress, though its Eighth Army met stiff resistance after reaching Łódzź and faced a week-long counter-offensive from Polish troops advancing across the Bzura River. The German Tenth Army raced from Lower Silesia towards Sandomierz, while von List’s Fourteenth Army moved out of Moravia and Slovakia to take Kraków and the south-east of Poland.4 Senior Army commanders, unhindered by Hitler, had carried out much of this meticulous planning. As Generaloberst Franz Halder, Deputy Chief of the General Staff for Operations observed, ‘Hitler did not interfere in Army preparations, except that he planned down to the smallest detail the attack against the Bridge at Dirschau’. It was ironic that this was one Polish operation where the Germans were thwarted, for the Poles pre-empted the German attack on this important bridge over the Vistula by blowing it up.5 Nevertheless, those who worked closely with him conceded that Hitler did have a grasp of small unit tactics:




With his personal experience of the last war in the ranks, he had gained a very good knowledge of the lower level of warfare – the properties of the different weapons; the effect of ground and weather; the mentality and morale of the troops – he was very good at gauging this.6





The German invasion of 1939 ended nearly twenty years of relative freedom and independence for Poland. Such freedom had been a novel experiment as Poland’s recent history was largely one of foreign domination, sandwiched between the Teutonic powers of Saxony and Prussia in the west, and Russia in the east. During the Great War, much of modern Poland’s territory was occupied by Germany, who from 1915 pushed the Eastern Front boundary beyond Warsaw. In the hope that the Poles would support the German war effort, the Kaiser imposed a surprisingly benign tenure, allowing some religious tolerance and even reinstating the Polish language in education and government administration. As the German monarchy collapsed, so Polish nationalists came to the fore, including Józef Piłsudski, while the Versailles Peace Conference re-established the country as an independent republic, albeit with ill-defined boundaries, especially to the east. Following a plebiscite, the important industrial and mining region of Upper Silesia in the west was granted to Poland in 1921, but her independence was far from guaranteed. To the east, Lenin still hoped to export the Bolshevik revolution to the centre of Europe and in 1920 war broke out. Polish and Ukrainian troops achieved early successes. However, an effective Red Army counter-offensive brought Poland to the international negotiating table, where a proposal for a settled eastern boundary known as the ‘Curzon Line’ was discussed.7 This line, named after the British Foreign Secretary, was to be an armistice line but was soon ignored by the Bolsheviks who continued their march on Warsaw. The situation for the Poles appeared hopeless with only the River Vistula, on which the capital lay, remaining as a natural defence. But in an extraordinary reversal Józef Piłsudski’s Polish army routed the Bolsheviks in the Battle of Warsaw, which became a legend known as ‘The Miracle on the Vistula’.8


Piłsudski remained the strongman of Poland throughout the 1920s and early 1930s. A coup in 1926 consolidated his power and ushered in the Sanacja (sanitation) regime, which was to continue in office until 1939. This regime was certainly no democracy, but neither was it the fascist dictatorship described by some sources. However, it remained dedicated to a continuous search for security and this inter-war period saw a succession of treaties and pacts between Poland and her neighbours or allies. A Polish-French Alliance was signed on 19 February 1921, only to be tempered later by the terms of the 1925 Treaty of Locarno, which saw Britain and France guarantee that the German borders would remain static. Significantly, no international guarantees were given for Germany’s border with Poland, and feeling vulnerable, the Polish Government signed a non-aggression pact with the Soviet Union on 25 July 1932, followed by a similar pact with Germany in January 1934.


With the death of Piłsudski in May 1935, the Sanacja regime lost its unifying force at the very time when the country was subject to increased nationalist agitation, for included in a population of 32 million were some important minorities including Ukrainians (4 million), Jews (2.2 million), Byelorussians (1.5 million) and Germans (1 million). The Depression of the late 1920s and poor harvests had badly affected the population of Poland, of whom 64% lived off the land, and some communities became susceptible to envy of the Jews, who, by their industry, achieved representation in higher education, and dominated professions such as law and medicine. Some elements in Polish society felt excluded from further advancement and looked for scapegoats amongst such minorities. As a result of economic inequalities, there were some anti-Semitic riots, but their nature was sporadic, largely un-orchestrated and lacked the state sponsorship clearly evident in Germany.9


On 29 September 1938, the Munich conference began. Perhaps ‘conference’ was a misnomer, for yet again, Hitler dictated the European agenda, pushing the feeble British and French delegations into accepting the German annexation of the Sudetenland. Almost all of the Czechoslovak defensive positions lay within this region and the country, now totally exposed, anxiously awaited dismemberment. The Polish Government and especially the sharp and resourceful Polish Foreign Minister, Józef Beck, closely monitored events in their neighbouring state. In a move to pick over the Czech carcass, Poland gave the Czech government an ultimatum to remove its troops from the northwest corner of the Duchy of Teschen. On 1 October 1938, Polish troops seized this portion of Czech territory, much to the delight of the Germans who were happy to spread the blame for the ceding of parts of Czechoslovakia. Although Germany was deprived of this three-hundred-square-mile parcel of land containing important rail junctions, its seizure by Poland was opportunist and short-lived; it was also an action which appalled traditional friends of Poland, such as Winston Churchill, who accused the Poles of jumping ‘on the back of Czechoslovakia in that moment of agony which helped to rend her in pieces.’10


Although Beck knew he had guarantees from Britain and France, he was enough of a pragmatist to realise that these agreements needed underwriting. He therefore looked to a wider plan for an east European block of Poland, Hungary, Romania, and the remains of Czechoslovakia, that might just be a bulwark against Germany and the Soviet Union. However, these plans soon foundered and in the winter of 1938–9 Germany bought off Hungary by giving her a sizable chunk of southern Slovakia. The remainder of Slovakia was encouraged by Germany to declare independence on 14 March 1939 and the following day, the President of Czechoslovakia, Emil Hácha, was invited to meet Hitler. Standing before the dictator, Hácha was berated and humiliated and, once he had been revived from physical collapse, was ‘encouraged’ to sign away Moravia and Bohemia. These two regions had formed the residue of the Czech part of the country and their new status as a German ‘protectorate’ and base for German troops would prove important as a springboard for the forthcoming attack on Poland.


The 1939 Anglo-Polish Treaty did not contain any guarantee for the integrity of Poland’s pre-war boundaries, though on 31 March the British Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain surprised the House of Commons with a verbal assurance that if Poland were attacked, Britain and France ‘would lend the Polish Government all the support in their power’. Three days later, after a series of customary rages, Hitler instructed the German High Command (OKW) to issue plans for the invasion of Poland. The simultaneity of these acts has prompted some sources to blame Chamberlain’s assurances for pushing Hitler to accelerate his plans for an attack on Poland, but it would seem that Hitler needed little encouragement.11 And it was hard to see how Britain could not have given Poland a guarantee, for as Gladwyn Jebb of the Foreign Office observed:




There was no hope of averting a war by not guaranteeing Poland. The more or less instinctive reaction of the Government, approved by the Foreign Office, was not therefore unpremeditated panic as suggested by some: it was a calculated defiance, and it was probably right.12





The British Government’s belated stand against Hitler was rewarded with more than just points for morality. Increased co-operation between Britain and Poland was to reap significant benefits for the former, in the shape of intelligence. The Polish Intelligence Service had for some time since the early 1930s been decoding German military signals traffic. They had even managed to construct a replica ‘Enigma’ machine, from which they deciphered pre-war German Wehrmacht messages. However, German modifications to the military machine in late 1938 could not be discovered in time to enable Polish GHQ to read enemy ciphers in the critical period during August and September 1939. Nevertheless, the Poles were prepared to share what Enigma knowledge they held with British and French Intelligence. On 26 July 1939, Intelligence officers from the three countries met in the village of Pyry, just south of Warsaw. AG Denniston, Head of the Government Code and Cipher School (GC&CS) who attended the meeting, recalled that the Poles displayed ‘a mass of telegrams they had read, concerning naval traffic between Berlin and the [German] fleet in Spanish waters’.13 This hard evidence of their progress was followed up in August by the delivery to London, of a replica machine. This did not mean that the western Allies could read German signals immediately, because the settings and keys were regularly altered, but with the invaluable assistance and knowledge of Polish cryptanalysts, the British were eventually able to break the Enigma code.14


Meanwhile, to the east of Poland, Britain was lukewarm about talks with the Soviet Premier Josef Stalin and since the spring of 1939 had largely pushed away offers of a Soviet pact. In Moscow, distrust of the west was allowed to fester, with both Britain and France being seen as unreliable allies since their weak showing at Munich the previous year. It was a widely held belief that ‘the [British] Government made allies with eloquence and great diplomatic skill, without being in a position to back up their words with suitable deeds.’15


As Germany piled on the pressure during August, the atmosphere in Warsaw remained strangely calm. William L. Shirer, an American correspondent with CBS who was based in the Polish capital, noted in his diary:




Walking home to the hotel at dawn, the air was soft and fresh and the quiet, soothing. All in all, the Poles are calm and confident and Berlin’s gibes and Goebbels’ terrific campaign of lies and invented incidents leave them cold. But they are romantic – too confident. You ask them, as I’ve asked a score of officials in the Foreign Office and the army this past week, about Russia and they shrug their shoulders. Russia does not count for them. But it ought to.16





Shirer was right. Both the Soviets and Germans saw Poland as a buffer state between their ideologies and a convenient Nazi-Soviet non-aggression pact would neatly divide Eastern Europe into areas of influence and control. More importantly for Hitler, it would relieve the threat of a war on two fronts, whilst for Stalin, it would allay his fears that he might be attacked from the west at the same time as any Japanese assault on his eastern borders. After overtures from Hitler, on 24 August 1939 Vyacheslav Molotov, the new Commissar for Soviet Foreign Affairs, signed a pact with his German counterpart, Joachim von Ribbentrop. The pact would keep Stalin out of a major war for the moment, but at a stroke, it had determined Poland’s fate.17


Hitler now pushed the issue of the ‘Polish Corridor’. This was a strip of land, some twenty-five miles wide, which was given to Poland through the Treaty of Versailles in order to allow her access to the sea. The practical effect was that it split off East Prussia from the rest of Germany, including the German-speaking seaport of Danzig, which had been declared a ‘Free City’ under the protection of the League of Nations. Hitler then put forward terms for his acquisition of Danzig and the Corridor, but while these terms were clearly unacceptable to the Poles, they found some favour in Britain. Chamberlain still hoped for peace and he was not alone. Hastings Ismay, Secretary of the Committee of Imperial Defence was prepared to allow the dictator one last chance, declaring to his colleague Robin Hankey:




Danzig is no longer a place but a principle and in my opinion, we should make no more concessions of any kind unless and until Hitler himself makes a real geste de rapprochement. If he did that, and I thought it could be trusted, I would go a very long way to meet him.18





As Blitzkrieg enveloped Poland, the German Luftwaffe ensured that all strategic railways were bombed, thereby stopping reservists reaching their units and effectively debilitating Polish mobilisation. With Polish communications in chaos, urgent appeals were made to Britain and France for action. Chamberlain’s Government prevaricated, initially issuing a ‘warning’ to Germany on the first day of the invasion, and it was only after uproar in the House of Commons on 2 September, that an ultimatum was issued to Germany the following day. The ultimatum was ignored and Britain declared war at 1100 hours, followed by France later in the day. But this declaration did not precipitate action. The Poles may have expected British bombers to attack Germany, and these bombers did carry out sorties over German cities, but it was only to drop leaflets. This timid British response was also mirrored by the French, who made much of a military diversion against the German Siegfried Line in the west, but this merely prodded the enemy defences and made no difference to the war in Poland.19 Although British and French staffs knew that they would be unable to render material military support, the Poles remained confident that aid would come. After all, part of their strategy was based on a promised early French entry into the war, easing pressure on the Polish front, and thus allowing time for Polish reserves to mount a counter-attack against German forces. It was a forlorn hope. The Poles were alone but still managed to hold the enemy back until the last of the major Polish armies was destroyed at the Battle of the Kutno Pocket. By 17 September, Warsaw lay open.


Generaloberst Franz Halder maintained that he had no wish to ‘raze’ Warsaw as the Polish Army had been defeated, but he alleged that Hitler had other ideas:




Hitler said, ‘No, Warsaw must be attacked.’ The war against Poland would only be over when Warsaw had fallen. He then started to describe how the skies would be darkened, how millions of tons of shells would rain down on Warsaw, how people would drown in blood. Then his eyes nearly popped out of his head and he became a different person. He was suddenly seized by a lust for blood.20





On 17 September 1939 the Soviets announced that due to the German invasion, the Polish state had ceased to exist, rendering any current treaties null and void. The old standby was employed of ‘rescuing Soviet friends’ (Ukrainians and Emigré Russians) in Poland who were at the mercy of the Germans. At the very moment that Polish units were falling back on Warsaw, or heading for the Romanian border in the south-east corner of Poland, Soviet troops poured across the entire length of Poland’s eastern borders. They were ordered to advance to the new German line and partition Poland in accordance with the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact, and ‘protect’ the Polish territories of Ukraine and Byelorussia. This thin veneer of Soviet protection was soon breached when Molotov admitted that there were ‘serious encounters between our troops and Polish troops and consequently there were casualties. The total casualties of the Red Army were 2,599.’ No doubt this figure was understated, for although this eastern area was pacified within a week and only lightly defended by Polish troops, the Soviets claimed to have captured over 900 guns, 10,000 machine-guns, 300,000 rifles and 300 aircraft. It was a fair tally for capturing half of Poland’s territory together with 13 million inhabitants.21


Some elements in eastern Poland believed that Soviet rule might even be benign. In reality it was every bit as brutal as German control in the west. The arrival of Soviet troops shocked fourteen-year-old Bolesław Majewski, who lived with his family on a farm just east of Brest-Litovsk:




Shortly after we heard the Russians had invaded our country, my father was advised to leave his post in the Polish police, as it was every man for himself. My elder brother and I continued to look after the animals on the farm. Early one morning I came back into the farmhouse after feeding them and was startled by a huge Russian soldier standing in the doorway with bayonet fixed. ‘Who are you?’ he barked. My father appeared and told him I was his son. He seemed to accept this and ordered us all to collect a few things and report to the village school. When we arrived there, we saw a lot of other villagers we knew. There were many Russian soldiers and an NKVD man standing in the centre with a list of all our names. They had done their homework in advance. We were shipped out in trucks and then in railway wagons up to Archangel in the north where it was bitterly cold. We were then put to work in the Russian railways and timber yards.22





While Stalin would never retreat from his captured Polish territory, Churchill was never going to force the issue, as the British Government considered that the eastern Polish frontier should be along the ‘Curzon Line’, which approximated to Stalin’s new front-line. Ultimately, ‘on the frontier position, the British views were therefore closer to the Russians than to the Poles.’23


As the Soviets swept in from the east, refugees streamed out of Poland, many crossing the border into Romania. This neighbour state kept her borders open, despite pressure from her military and certain sectors of her government, who had now rejected the old military alliance with Poland. Although Romania was inclined to Germany and she interned many leading members of the Polish Government, other senior military commanders were allowed to escape. As well as a steady stream of Polish refugees, the human column was enlivened by a Rolls-Royce bearing an upright British Ambassador, together with another car carrying Colonel Beck, the Polish Foreign Minister. Also among the refugees were the members of the British Military Mission from Warsaw. This Mission was headed by the legendary Major-General Adrian Carton de Wiart VC, and included Lieutenant-Colonel Colin Gubbins as GSO1, Peter Wilkinson, Captain Harold Perkins and Captain Mike Pickles. The aim of the twenty-strong party, which included representatives from Military Research, Intelligence (MIR), was to establish resistance contacts within Poland for the supply of weapons and transmitters. But they had spent barely two weeks in Poland before being evicted by the German invasion. Even the indestructible Carton de Wiart, who had lost an eye, a hand and had been wounded three times in the Great War, realised that this time the odds were too heavily stacked against his team. The party eventually reached France and set up liaison with the fledgling Polish Government-in-exile, based in Paris.24


Meanwhile, in eastern Poland, countless families were torn apart by the sudden Soviet occupation. Those Poles who were seen as educated or professional were immediately arrested and sent eastwards in railway cattle trucks. In freezing, overcrowded conditions in the rail trucks, many died and were thrown out onto the tracks, but in extraordinary acts of bravery, some priests managed to squeeze into the trucks to administer to the sick, knowing that they would share the same fate. It is estimated that some 1.7 million Poles were deported to the Soviet Union, most to be dumped in penal camps in the wastelands of Siberia and the Arctic Circle.25 Whole families were split and twelve-year-old Hanna Czarnocka was shocked by the turmoil:




At the start of the war we lived in Krzemieniec, Volhynia, in eastern Poland, and we had a comfortable lifestyle as my father was the Kurator (Rector) of the Liceum Krzemienieckie, an important and historic school in the region. My mother, Halina, was a social welfare worker, town councillor and supported the very large Jewish community in the region. When the Germans invaded, refugees started pouring into our town and that included Józef Beck and other government ministers, who sheltered in the Hotel Bona. This soon became a target for German bombers, though most of their bombs fell on the nearby market place killing many civilians. Our school’s German teacher, who quickly disappeared after the incident, was strongly suspected of being the spy who caused the bombing. Many local traders were frightened and left the town, heading south with the government representatives. As goods were in short supply, my mother started helping with local services as well as supporting refugees.


We were only 20 km from the Soviet border, so when the Soviets invaded on 17 September, they arrived in our town three days later. I remember my father dreading their arrival and he started burning papers; everywhere we saw black wisps of charred paper floating in the air. Other groups in the town welcomed the Russians, including some Jewish families, who knew of the Nazi atrocities and hoped that the Russians would protect them. The young Russian soldiers were so drab. They had no hems on their uniforms and their rifles were slung over their shoulders with string. A platform was built in the local school grounds and we were all forced to attend and listen to propaganda speeches. The men, in hats with red stars on, spoke in Russian, Ukrainian and Polish about ‘how good Stalin was’. We were then sent home and soldiers came to our house to arrest our father, who looked sadly back at us as he was taken away under armed guard. A family friend made a parcel of food and clothes and managed to find him in a prison. She said that his captors claimed that ‘as he had worked for the former Polish state, he had committed a criminal offence’. It was incredible; the Russians seemed to know who everybody was and where they were educated, there was no escaping this. Then one day, my mother received a note written on cigarette paper, from our father. It read, ‘Tomorrow they will send me to deepest Russia and you will be sent as well. Take the children and escape to the German occupied zone’. It was February 1940, and the first transports were about to go to Siberia and while waiting to be deported, some children froze to death at the local railway station. My grandmother had already been taken ill and died in hospital in Lwów in terrible conditions. It was minus 20°C. My aunt, Wanda had already left for Warsaw, and my mother, my younger brother and myself, quickly packed and left for what was to be an extraordinary journey.26





Warsaw fell on 27 September, but elements of the disparate Polish Army fought on and indeed some of the toughest fighting occurred as Polish units battled their way south towards the Romanian border. General Kazimierz Sosnkowski managed to establish a bridgehead there, allowing valuable time for troops and much of Poland’s government to escape. German and Soviet troops met near Brest on 28 September and by 5 October the fighting was effectively over. It is estimated that the Germans suffered nearly 50,000 casualties and lost some 500 aircraft whist inflicting 200,000 casualties on the Polish Army.


On 8 October, by Hitler’s special decree, German-occupied Poland was divided almost in half, with the economically important western region including Danzig and the Polish Corridor, Poznan, Łódź and Upper Silesia being incorporated into the Reich. Those who could prove they were Volksdeutsche (of German origin) were allowed to stay, and in the important regions of Upper Silesia and Pomerania, over 40% were registered as such. The remaining population were classed as ‘Poles’ and either driven out to the east, or treated as a sub-human category, deprived of their homes and education and subjected to hard labour. In the eastern part of German occupied Poland, a new administration was formed. This administrative block included Warsaw, Lublin and Kraków, an area of some 100,000 sq km, and was to be controlled by a ‘General Government’. In this sector, the population was to be subjected to particularly harsh treatment; semi-starvation, forced labour, mass executions and transportation were characteristics of the new order. Even before the total extermination policies were determined in 1942, Hitler’s plan was simply the expansion of the German race into Poland to create lebensraum (living space), while the Poles were to be evicted and spread like a waste product over the vast tracts of the Soviet Union.27 The German commander, von Rundstedt, temporarily filled the post of Governor-General until 26 October, when Hitler appointed Hans Frank as his successor. The forty-year-old lawyer had been Hitler’s personal legal adviser and was a former Reich Commissar for Justice. Frank had served his apprenticeship with Hitler in the ‘Beer Hall Putsch’ in 1923 and had been an Obergruppenführer in the pre-war SA, but his recent military service was confined to the role of reserve officer. He later claimed that his promotion was a surprise:




I was training my company and on 17 September I was making final preparations before going to the front when a telephone call came from the Führer’s special train ordering me to go to the Führer at once. The following day I travelled to Upper Silesia where the Führer’s special train was stationed at that time, and in a very short conversation, which lasted less than ten minutes, he gave me the mission, as he put it, to take over the functions of Civilian Governor for the occupied Polish territories.28





Despite his subsequent loyal service, Frank (and any member of the legal profession) was never really trusted by Hitler, who ensured that the SS (Schutzstaffeln) and Gestapo remained, officially at least, directly responsible to the SS-Reichführer, Heinrich Himmler. Nonetheless, this brutal security apparatus was available to Frank to implement his Führer’s policies – policies Frank was to enthusiastically enforce, especially those concerning the suppression of the Poles and annihilation of the Jews. Referring to his new fiefdom, he noted in his diary, ‘this territory in its entirety is the booty of the German Reich’. As well as Governor, Frank was also leader of the National Socialist Party in the state, and he was directly subordinate to Hitler and in time would even be allowed control over the Higher Chiefs of the SS and SD.29 From his base in Kraków, he surrounded himself with the trappings of power, as Countess Karolina Lanckoronńska recalled:




The existence of the Poles was becoming increasingly difficult. Ever more strongly, and at every step, it was emphasised that we Poles were Untermenschen (sub-humans)…we felt ourselves defenceless in the hands of the German General Governor Hans Frank, who resided at Wawel Castle, and whose deeds vied with those of all his predecessors who had borne that terrible title on the soil of Poland. I saw him once only. I was going through the Market near Bracka Street when five motor cars and a posse of motorcyclists, moving at top speed, emerged from Franciszkanńska Street and drew to a halt in front of the Nazi Party HQ. SS men with hand-held machine carbines jumped from their cars and, at the speed of lightning, formed a double cordon from the pavement to the main door. At the same time, walking quickly came a man in uniform with very black hair and eyes. A pace to his rear a couple of aides were almost running to keep up. Had I not recognised his face – his photograph was everywhere – I would not have known who he was by the immense fear that he did nothing to hide, peering round to left and right at every step till he disappeared behind the door, which shut immediately.30





Meanwhile Stalin was busy consolidating the East European states to the north of Poland. In October 1939, the Baltic states of Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia were coerced into a pact with the Soviets, which gave Stalin access to ice-free ports. It was no surprise that within nine months a total Soviet occupation took place. Stalin had repeatedly voiced concern before 1939 as to the unreliability of treaties with Britain or France. On 30 November 1939 he disregarded his non-aggression pact with Finland and invaded her. It turned out to be a poor advertisement for Soviet military prowess, for the result was incomplete and the whole bitter adventure reinforced Hitler’s belief that Stalin’s forces were ill-disciplined, under-equipped and would not withstand a future German invasion.31 Surprisingly, once hostilities ended, Stalin agreed to exchange prisoners with the Finns, something that was certainly not on his agenda for Poland in 1940, where large numbers of Polish troops, academics, clerics and civil servants had been rounded up for ‘processing’ by Stalin’s secret police, or NKVD (Narodny Komissaryat Vnutrennikh Del). Adam Wykrota found himself caught in the net:




I was twenty-four when the war started in Poland and I was based with my battalion at Wilno. When the collapse happened, the regiment was disbanded and I fled to Lithuania thinking I would be safe. Then the Russians arrived there as well and I was arrested and sent to an internment camp near Smolensk and twenty-five miles from Katyn. We lived in cowsheds and were separated from our officers. Then one day, it was some time in 1940, the officers were taken away and we never heard of them again.32





The NKVD had, by the spring of 1940, sifted through their captives, allowing Lavrenti Beria, head of the security organisation to propose to Stalin that nearly 22,000 Poles, including half the Polish officer corps, should be eliminated. It is highly likely that Wykrota’s officers were among those men massacred by Soviet forces in the spring of 1940 and buried in Katyn Forest. Katyn – and the other two NKVD execution sites at Mednoye and Kharkov – were to remain a secret for another three years and, even then, the Soviets would escape the blame.


Since their flight via Romania, many senior Polish political and military figures had established themselves in Paris. A discreet revolution had overthrown the old Polish Sanacja regime and a new Polish Government-in-exile was formed with Władysław Raczkiewicz as President. General Władysław Sikorski, a veteran of the 1920 war, was appointed both Prime Minister and Commander-in-Chief of the Polish Armed Forces. The new government of ‘National Unity’, which was speedily recognised by Britain and France, comprised leading figures of the main national parties, such as Stanisław Mikołajczyk and military commanders such as Kazimierz Sosnkowski. Sikorski, who was untainted by association with the ancien régime, started to rebuild the Polish Armed Forces and the intention was to create four divisions out of the 35,000 troops who had escaped, together with 45,000 Polish immigrants resident in France. A Highland Brigade was also formed as well as a revitalised 10th Mechanised Cavalry Brigade, equipped with French R-35 tanks.33


Meanwhile much of the Polish Merchant fleet had managed to escape to friendly waters and due to a pre-war plan by the British Admiralty, three naval destroyers sailed to the safety of British ports during the German invasion, followed shortly afterwards by several Polish submarines. While other Polish submarines were interned by neutral Sweden for the rest of the War, the Polish Navy continued a proud service record, operating under the Royal Navy and supplemented by ships leased from Britain.34


Hitler now turned his attention to the west. As dawn broke on 10 May 1940, along a front of over 175 miles running from the North Sea down to the Maginot Line, German forces swept into Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg. Within an hour of the alert, aircrews were scrambled from RAF 226 Squadron, part of the Advanced Air Strike Force, based at Rheims. The three-man crews took off in their Fairey Battle light bombers to attack strategic targets ahead of the German advance. The ‘Battle’ was one of the first British bombers to see action and great hopes were placed on the Merlin-engined aircraft, which had twice the bomb load and could cover twice the distance of its predecessors. One aircraft flown by Flying Officer Cameron, together with his navigator Sergeant Hart and Wireless Operator Sergeant John Ward made good progress towards the target, a bridge near Diekirch in Luxembourg. But as they closed on the bridge, enemy flak erupted around their aircraft and machine-gun fire ripped through the fuselage. Cameron wrestled with his controls, but an explosion in the cockpit blew off part of his arm. Nevertheless, he managed to crash-land the aircraft. As they lay in the smouldering wreck, Germans soon surrounded them, but the quick-thinking Ward called out that there were bombs on board. The Germans hastily retreated, enabling him to burn any secret papers, before the airmen were dragged out. The crew were then removed to a hospital, where Ward and Hart recovered but Cameron died on the operating table. The surviving RAF men were separated and interned in POW camps. During the next year, Ward was moved around various camps until he ended up in Upper Silesia, near the old German/Polish border. He escaped from this camp and crossed into the General Government sector of occupied Poland, where he joined the underground movement and became, on his own initiative, a British Intelligence source. He was to be one of the very few British witnesses to the terrible events in Warsaw in 1944.35


As Queen Wilhelmina and her Dutch government escaped to London, Holland surrendered just five days later. 10 May was a momentous day for other reasons. As Hitler was poised to conquer the Low Countries, the political situation changed abruptly in London. Despite the obvious failure of Chamberlain’s policies in the light of Hitler’s latest actions, it was the poor performance of British forces in the Norway campaign which brought him down. By the evening of 10 May, Winston Churchill was installed as Prime Minister and he quickly gathered an all-party cabinet around him. His famous offer of ‘blood, toil, tears and sweat’ brought great heart to the Poles, wearied by the recent diet of British indecision.


Following Hitler’s swift occupation of Holland, Belgium capitulated soon after on 28 May, despite a brave showing by Belgian troops against hopeless odds. However, in the last days of that month, over 125,000 Allied troops had been evacuated from Dunkirk, though Polish units were not among them. Their fate was determined by French Army operations, which floundered in front of Hitler’s sweep into France. The Polish Highland Brigade, which had recently seen service in the lacklustre land campaign in Norway had been pulled back to France to assist her defence, only to be overwhelmed a week later together with the partly formed Polish 3rd?Division, in heavy fighting on the Bretagne peninsula.


A similar fate befell Colonel Maczek’s 10th Mechanised Brigade, which was severely mauled in actions in the Champagne region. Meanwhile, of the two Polish divisions that were fully formed, the 1st Grenadier Division under the command of General Duch fought a brave rearguard action covering the retreat of the French 20th Army Corps and lost nearly 50% of its men. However, the other completed unit, the 2nd Rifle Division, was compelled to move across the border into Switzerland, where it was interned for the rest of the war. In the light of the disastrous French campaign, it was miraculous that any Polish troops managed to escape. Although 55,000 Polish troops were lost or captured in France, some 19,000 men, including 5,000 aircrew, did manage to escape to England to re-form and re-fit. They remained part of the Polish Republic’s armed forces, but now came under Allied Command.36


The Fall of France was a shock to the Poles. ‘There was terrible disappointment at the French collapse,’ wrote Countess Karolina Lanckoronńska, ‘to whom we had all looked up to for so long. This frustrated love of France was redirected all the more intensely towards England – powerful, wise, immeasurably upright and yet, so far, hardly known to us.’37 This warmth of feeling between the Poles and Britain grew during the summer of 1940, strengthened by the courageous roll of Polish pilots in the Battle of Britain, when twenty-nine out of ninety-eight Polish pilots were lost. And more importantly, that bond was cemented during the months leading up to the German invasion of the Soviet Union in June 1941, when ‘Poland-in-exile’ was Britain’s only significant ally.38


Poland’s Government-in-exile had to move to London, and set itself up in the unlikely surroundings of the Hotel Rubens, near Buckingham Palace. In London, the Polish leaders, unlike the Czechs, were unfamiliar figures. They were known in the US, where there was a large Polish immigrant population and they had left behind a large number of contacts in France, but new relationships had to be forged in Britain. The capitulation of France and the move to Britain was also a further disruption for Polish troops who had been on the move since their own country fell, and were desperate to stay in the war. Second Lieutenant Mieczysław Juny’s adventures were typical:




Having been a young officer in the Polish Reserve Army, I was recalled before the war started and was commanding a unit of reserve men [Territorials] in the Carpathian Mountains along the southern border with Hungary. After the Germans invaded, I was ordered with my men to cross the border into Hungary, where we were held temporarily. The Germans must have put much pressure on the Hungarians and Romanians to intern us, but they were our friends and it was a fairly easy stay. To my amazement, my fiancée also managed to cross the border and find me, and we married there and then. I left her in a safe place and we made our way down to Yugoslavia, then Bratislava and Greece and finally we embarked on ‘The Constanza’ and crossed the Mediterranean to Beirut, which was French controlled. While we were there, awaiting the formation of a Carpathian Brigade, France fell. We were now under the control of a French officer who was taking his orders from the Germans. He commanded us to surrender our arms, but luckily we were with some tough French Foreign Legionnaires who sided with us and he had to back down. We were all determined to get away to fight again, and we were soon moved to Palestine and then down to Egypt, in order to move up to Tobruk to face the Italians.39





From 1939, right up until its invasion by German forces in June 1941, the Soviet Union was still a German ally, and as such, helped her with trade and economic support, as well as offering naval facilities at Murmansk. Stalin continued this support right up until ‘Operation Barbarossa’ in the belief that Hitler could not do without his help. There were of course German strategic ‘side-shows’ such as Yugoslavia and Greece which further wrong-footed Stalin, but despite repeated intelligence that the Germans were about to invade, Stalin resolutely refused to accept the notion.40 Yet German plans for the invasion had been in preparation for some time. On 5 December 1940, the German OKH (Oberkommando des Heeres) Commander-in-Chief, Generaloberst Walter von Brauchitsch, presented the final plan to Hitler for the invasion of the Soviet Union. Von Brauchitsch and his Chief-of-Staff, Generaloberst Franz Halder stood before their Führer, who immediately amended their overworked plans and directed that Moscow was no longer the main objective. Instead, German Army Group North and Army Group Centre would advance through the Baltic States and the Ukraine, while Army Group South would occupy the oil-rich Caucasus. This new lebensraum (living space) would indeed incorporate Moscow, but perhaps mindful of Napoleon’s disastrous Russian campaign, Hitler did not make the city the focus of his plans. After all, France had capitulated without a major strike at Paris. But his overriding consideration was that the Soviet Army had to be destroyed west of the River Dnieper, avoiding the Wehrmacht being drawn too deep into Soviet territory to fight a war on stretched resources.


Despite the disquiet of his fellow commanders, von Brauchitsch put up little resistance to Hitler’s fateful plans. In fact, von Brauchitsch had long since given up the unequal struggle with his supreme commander:




General Brauchitsch said privately to a small circle of German generals, ‘Why should I tell Hitler the truth when everyone else lies to him?’ At the same meeting the German plan for the Caucasus was discussed. Almost all present were against it and begged Brauchitsch to explain to Hitler the difficulties of executing it. Brauchitsch made the above excuse. Hitler is not accurately informed about the material, technical and physical possibilities of continuing the war, nor is he told the truth about German losses, because he would then put the blame on the generals. At war councils he indicates with his finger on the map the objectives he wishes to attain. The generals do not carry out his instructions strictly, because he forgets very easily, but they give him the report after the event. Anyone who tries to tell him unpleasant things is treated to an explosion of temper.41





Operation ‘Barbarossa’ started in the early hours of 22 June 1941. It was heralded by German newspaper headlines, screaming ‘Abrechnung mit dem rotten Pack’ (Settlement with the red rabble). The scale and success of the initial Wehrmacht thrust was staggering. Originally deploying along a front of over 1,700 miles, an Axis army of 3 million men would crash through 750 miles of Soviet-held territory within the next six months, which was equivalent to travelling the distance from London to Rome.42 Stalin was at first thrown off balance and it took him some hours to issue his first military directive. His first thought was that the German attacks were some sort of large-scale provocation until he received the official declaration of war at 0530 hours. By then, the assault was well under way and Soviet communications were seriously damaged with many frontline units cut off from central HQs. The tortured report and confirmation system inherent in the Soviet system meant that commanders like Konstantin Rokossovsky, commander of 9th Mechanized Corps, could not go into action until he had opened a top secret operational envelope. This contained orders from his Fifth Army Command, which had to be opened in the presence of the People’s Commissar for Defence. Rokossovsky then had to confirm its contents with District HQ, Army HQ and the People’s Commissariat for Defence and then, even as a Corps commander, consult with his Chief of Staff, Political Deputy and Special Section Chief. In the meantime the Germans had bombed Kiev and cut him off from his District Command.43


As the Wehrmacht swept through the old eastern part of Poland, the special operational units of the SS Einsatzgruppen were never far behind. Hitler’s declared aim for ‘Barbarossa’ was the defeat of the ‘Bolshevik/Jewish conspiracy’, a wide brief that included the extinction of much of the Polish intelligentsia. Lists drawn up by the pre-war German Embassy and Consulates assisted the brutal exercise, but terror became indiscriminate. In a typical exercise, Brigadeführer E. Schöngarth’s SS police unit arrested and summarily shot twenty-five Polish professors from the Lwów Polytechnic School, together with their relatives and house-guests.44 Considering all four Einsatzgruppen mustered no more than 4,000 troops altogether, their capacity for creating mayhem was extraordinary. But these ‘mission squads’ did not have a monopoly on brutality. Poles, in areas formally under Soviet control and now under German occupation, were also capable of atrocities. At Jedwabne, the Jewish community were slaughtered by their former Polish neighbours in an act that may, or may not have been inspired by local German Einsatzgruppen.45 However, it was also evident that because they were so small in number, the Einsatzgruppen could not have functioned with such appalling efficiency, without the help and connivance of Wehrmacht units. Nonetheless, such diversions did not slow the rapid Wehrmacht advance, and by November 1941 German forces were within sight of Moscow. Within a month their fortunes were dramatically reversed due to stubborn Soviet resistance, exhausted lines of communication and appalling weather.46 With a short breathing space to gather reserves, the Soviet Army unleashed a series of counter-strokes east of Leningrad and at Rostov. These successes then enabled Stalin to launch a general offensive early in 1942 across the whole front running from Leningrad in the north, to the Black Sea in the south.47


While ‘Barbarossa’ was a critical challenge to the Soviet Union, it also marked a turning point for Poland. Because Stalin was under pressure, he was compelled to enter into a Polish-Soviet agreement, whereby the Poles interned in the Soviet Union since 1940, including large numbers of Polish POWs, would be released under an amnesty. However, many Poles had perished in the camps through execution, disease and sub-zero temperatures, and a tally had revealed that virtually all Polish Army officers captured in the early months of the war had disappeared, later to be accounted for in the Katyn massacres. However, about 114,000 soldiers and civilians were allowed to leave Soviet territory with General Wladysław Anders, a former cavalry officer, who was intending to create a new Polish Corps. This large body of Poles entered neighbouring Iran, where under British jurisdiction, General Anders set about creating a II Polish Corps, thus relieving six Soviet Divisions of occupation duties.48 The release period was tense and collusion between senior Polish officers and the Soviets was rare. Large numbers of Poles had been slaughtered and those who had endured spells in the grim gulags of Siberia were not inclined to any further contact with the Soviets. There were some who, through pro-communist sympathies or opportunism, decided to remain in the Soviet Union, but there were more who were simply unable to travel the long distances or obtain the necessary documents to join Anders. From among these ranks Stalin ordered the creation of a Soviet-sponsored 1st Polish Army. Zygmunt Berling, a former Polish Army officer had spent many months languishing in Soviet jails and camps before he was ‘re-educated’ and began a meteoric rise to the head of this army, which would become one of Stalin’s tools for the control of Poland.


Until ‘Barbarossa’, Britain and its one ally, Poland had stood alone against Hitler. It was therefore a huge relief to Britain when the Soviet Union was brought into the war. The attitude of the press and public to the Soviets was therefore one of gratefulness, but the BBC hardly needed to be reminded of that. Its output, particularly from its European News Directives was unashamedly pro-Soviet, while the Home Service’s ‘Russian Commentary’, was written by Alexander Werth, a known admirer of communism and the ‘Soviet experiment’. Stalin’s birthday was even celebrated by special performances by the BBC Symphony Orchestra, and radio programmes featured articles on Soviet life as well as her activities on the battlefield.49 Although Stalin’s collusion with Hitler in 1939 was now conveniently ignored, all this build-up of admiration for ‘Uncle Joe’ and the Soviet system made it very difficult for the British Government to backtrack on its relationship with Stalin. Once news of Soviet atrocities started to leak out, could it ever admit to a sceptical public that it had been in league with a mass-murderer and were unaware of his antics?


Meanwhile, the Poles, who were certainly more versed in the ways of their Soviet neighbour, continued their vital cooperation with the Allies, especially in the area of intelligence. When the Polish General Staff were set up in London, the II Bureau (Intelligence) became an important component and was directly responsible to the Chief of Polish General Staff (PGS). Colonel Leon Mitkiewicz was the first Head of II Bureau, to be followed in December 1941 by the more experienced Lieutenant-Colonel Stanisław Gano. Although the lines of communication to their home country were even further stretched by the move to London, they continued to provide reliable intelligence to the British SIS (Secret Intelligence Service), an organisation distinctly lacking in foreign contacts since the fall of France.50


Polish intelligence made a huge contribution to Allied planning. The value of the breaking of the German Enigma ciphering machine cannot be underestimated and tremendous work was undertaken by men such as Mieczysław Słowikowski (‘Rygor’) in facilitating the escape of Polish troops left behind after the fall of France, as well as in the setting up of the Intelligence network ‘Agency Africa’. Słowikowski’s work in French North Africa, and in particular the efforts of the Polish Military Intelligence unit in Algiers, paved the way for the November 1942 Allied landings. Known as ‘Operation Torch’, this venture in turn made possible the later invasion of Italy, and until a new western front could be opened, ‘Torch’ quelled Stalin’s anger over the lack of a fresh Allied front. And as German forces took over control of the Vichy sector of France in November 1942, the work of Polish agents in France became crucial.51


The brief alignment of Poland with the Soviet Union came to an end in April 1943, when the Germans finally discovered the graves of over 4,000 Poles in Katyn Forest. Those murdered included not only army officers but also NCOs, pilots, officials, professors, writers, teachers – in fact anyone who might have played a part in a revived, independent Poland. It was later revealed that the scale of the atrocity was much greater and that the Soviet Security chief, Lavrentiy Beria, had engineered the simultaneous murder of not only 4,421 Poles at Katyn, but also 3,820 Poles near Kharkov, 6,311 in the Ostashkovo district and a further 7,305 in POW camps.52 When the Soviets denied the slaughter, the Polish Government-in-exile demanded a Red Cross-sponsored investigation. Hoping to capitalise on an allied split, Germany made similar requests and this brought dividends for Reich Propaganda Minister, Josef Göbbels. On 26 April, the Soviet Union broke off diplomatic relations with Sikorski’s government, claiming ‘disgust’ at Polish collusion with Germany. As Polish/Soviet relations reached a new low, a terrible tragedy befell the Polish leadership. On 4 July, a Liberator carrying General Sikorski crashed into the sea as it was taking off from Gibralter runway, killing him together his daughter Zofia, members of his staff and a British Liaison officer, Lieutenant-Colonel Victor Cazalet MP. Although evidence pointed to an accident, conspiracy theories abounded and accusations were even made against Churchill and SIS, as well as several Polish antagonists – accusations that were fuelled by German propaganda.53 Various suspects were produced, including one man, Wing Commander Kleczynski, who claimed the previous year to have found a bomb on Sikorski’s aircraft. However, such claimants were eventually ruled out by British intelligence after investigation by Britain’s Special Operations Executive (SOE):
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